Supreme Court Copy

Case No. S156555

SUPREME COURT FILED

In The Supreme Court of the State of California

JAN 25 2008

Frederick K.Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

FRANCIS HARRIS, et al., *Petitioners*,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, Respondent;

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, et al., Real Parties in Interest,

Second Appellate District, Division One Nos. B19512/B195370 JCCP No. 4234 (*Liberty Mutual Overtime Cases*) The Honorable Carolyn B. Kuhl

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The petition for review by defendants Liberty Mutual

Insurance Company (Liberty Mutual) and Golden Eagle Insurance

Corporation (Golden Eagle) presents this question: do claims adjusters

employed by insurance companies perform duties that qualify for the

"administrative exemption" defined by California's Industrial Welfare

Commission (IWC) in its Wage Orders, or is the exemption limited to those
few employees who perform work "at the level of policy or general
operations"?

Notwithstanding the fundamental misinterpretation of the applicable regulations by the majority of a divided court of appeal below, defendants' claims adjusters perform duties that are quintessentially "administrative" in nature. The federal regulations incorporated by Wage Order 4-2001 define administrative work as "advising the management, planning, negotiating, [and] representing the company" — tasks that defendants' claims adjusters perform every day. The United States Department of Labor has recognized this to be true since it first promulgated the regulations. That claims adjusters can be exempt administrative employees is underscored by the fact that the applicable regulations list "claim agents and adjusters" as employees who can qualify for the administrative exemption.

Abundant and unanimous authority from federal courts and the United States Department of Labor interpreting the same federal regulations that the IWC made part of California law has held that insurance claims adjusters can be exempt administrative employees.

Indeed, not one federal court has held that an insurance adjuster is a "production" employee. This avalanche of federal authority is especially noteworthy because one of the IWC's goals in issuing Wage Order 4-2001 was to "promote uniformity of enforcement" between state and federal law. The new Wage Order clarifies what has always been true: most insurance claims adjusters perform duties that fall within the scope of the administrative exemption.

The majority's unprecedented and unsupported opinion would nullify this well-established jurisprudence. The administrative exemption is not restricted to employees who work "at the level of policy or general operations." Nor does it automatically exclude employees whose work relates to the "day-to-day operations of the business." The controlling regulations expressly state that the exemption also includes employees whose work "affects policy or whose responsibility it is to carry it out."

None of plaintiffs' contrary arguments, including their lead argument based on the "administrative/production worker dichotomy," is persuasive. At most, the dichotomy is only one tool among many to be used in determining whether an employee is performing administrative

work. As many courts have recognized, it has limited value in today's service-oriented economy and is almost never outcome-determinative.

Were it properly applied in the present case, however, it would also support the conclusion that claims adjusters perform administrative work.

Accordingly, because there are, at a minimum, triable issues of fact whether defendants' claims adjusters perform administrative work, the Court should direct the trial court to reinstate its order denying plaintiffs' motion for summary adjudication. In addition, because the trial court's class certification order was based on the erroneous premise that the dichotomy could, in fact, be dispositive in this case, the Court should direct the trial court to decertify the class in its entirety.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Overview

The trial court certified a class in these four coordinated lawsuits consisting of "all non-management employees classified as exempt by Liberty Mutual and Golden Eagle who were employed as claims

¹ As discussed at pages 48-49 below, performing duties that are "administrative" in nature is only one part of the test for exempt status under California's administrative exemption. To be exempt from overtime compensation, for example, an employee must also exercise "discretion and independent judgment." (Wage Order 4-2001, § 1(A)(2)(b).)

managers or performed claims-handling activities." (Exhibits in Support of Defendants' Petition for Writ of Mandate, Vol. 1, Tab 5, p. 67.)²

The gist of plaintiffs' claim is that as a matter of law, none of the defendants' 1,100 employees, working in 39 different job classifications, can conceivably be an exempt administrative employee.

After the Court of Appeal ruled in plaintiffs' favor, this Court granted review.

B. Defendants' Claims Adjusters

Insurance plays a vital role in the economy by allowing for risks to be pooled and transferred. In exchange for premiums paid, an insurance company assumes certain risks of loss from its policyholders.

(Pl. Exh. Vol. 8, Tab 33, p. 2360.) In a given policy year, most policyholders never submit a claim. (Vol. 1, Tab 11, p. 122, ¶ 6.) When an insured or third-party does make a claim, however, the insurance company must respond. It does so through its claims adjusters, who are responsible for speaking and acting on the company's behalf in investigating, analyzing, negotiating, and resolving, i.e., "adjusting," the claim.

² The six volumes of Exhibits in Support of Defendants' Petition for Writ of Mandate will be cited as "Vol. ____, Tab ____, p. ____." References to the exhibits the plaintiffs filed in support of their writ petition will be cited as "Pl. Exh. Vol. ____, Tab ____, p. ____."

Defendants' claims adjusters perform a critical function, and their work is anything but routine and unimportant. There are many steps involved in adjusting an insurance claim. When a claim is made, the adjuster first analyzes whether the claim is covered or potentially covered by the insurance contract. If it is, the adjuster investigates the facts of the loss (including its causes and extent) and reaches a conclusion about who is liable. Based on this determination, the adjuster decides whether the company must pay the claim and how much. (See, e.g., Vol. 1, Tab 9, p. 115, ¶ 11; Vol. 1, Tab 12, p. 132, ¶ 14; Vol. 1, Tab 13, pp. 138, 142, ¶ ¶ 4, 20; Vol. 1, Tab 15, p. 154, ¶ 16; Vol. 1, Tab 11, pp. 122-124, ¶ ¶ 7-13; Vol. 1, Tab. 12, pp. 134-136, ¶ 20.) Adjusters have absolute authority to settle claims for the company within their initial settlement authority. (See, e.g., Vol. 1, Tab 11, p. 122, ¶ 9; Vol. 3, Tab 26, pp. 530:7-8, 581:1-4, p. 582:5-10.)³

The average "Cost Estimate" on claims adjusted by the Liberty Mutual class members is \$19,783. (See, e.g., Vol. 3, Tab 28,

³ As the trial court noted, both sides in this case "agree that claims handlers perform at least the following duties: gathering evidence; establishing reserves; evaluating damages and liabilities; reviewing policies for coverage; assessing credibility including attempting to identify fraud; making recommendations on claims above their authority limits; negotiating settlements; and collaborating with company counsel if the claim is in litigation." (Vol. 6, Tab 72, p. 1439.)

p. 672.) In certain adjuster teams, the average value authorized by the adjuster and paid by the company exceeds \$100,000. Some of the plaintiff adjusters have authority to commit several million dollars of the company's money to pay claims. (See, e.g., Vol. 3, Tab 19, pp. 461-462, ¶ 11; Vol. 3, Tab 34, pp. 708-709, ¶ 3; Vol. 3, Tab 39, p. 726, ¶ 3, p. 730, ¶ 14; Vol. 4, Tab 42, p. 746, ¶ 23.)

If a claim is litigated, the plaintiff adjusters remain responsible for the claim and supervise the assigned attorney, sometimes even to the point of giving advice as to which questions should be asked at depositions. (See, e.g., Vol. 1, Tab 11, p. 123, ¶¶ 10-11; Vol. 1, Tab 15, p. 154, ¶¶16(b) and (g); Vol. 3, Tab 26, pp. 501:16-21, 543:7-14, 600:2-20, 607:7-20, 608:9-20, 609:18-20, 639:5-22.) Plaintiffs do not need a supervisor's approval to refer cases to the Special Investigations Unit, a field investigator, a vocational rehabilitation vendor, attorney, or structured settlement vendor. (See, e.g., Vol. 1, Tab 12, p. 135, ¶ 20(g); Vol. 2, Tab 16, p. 175, (58:16-61:6); Vol. 3, Tab 26, pp. 517-18, 544:11-14, 549:10-15; 629:1-22, 630:20-22, 631:13-15.) Plaintiffs have the authority to disburse company funds for temporary disability benefit payments, death benefits, wage loss payments, or permanent disability benefit payments. (See, e.g., Vol. 3, Tab 26, pp. 554:24-555:6, 556:23-25, 557:18-23, 558:23-559:16.)

As the trial court noted, in a class that includes more than 1,100 employees working for three different companies in three different

business lines and 39 different job classifications, there are "significant variations" in the plaintiff adjusters' duties and responsibilities. (Vol. 6, Tab 72, p 1469; Vol. 3, Tab 26, p. 497, ¶ 12.) Different team managers, for example, impose different limitations on what the claims adjusters they supervise may do without obtaining approval or notifying the team manager. (Vol. 3, Tab 19, p. 460, ¶¶ 6, 7; Vol. 3, Tab 20, p. 465, ¶ 6; Vol. 3, Tab 31, p. 697, ¶¶ 8, 10; Vol. 3, Tab 34, pp. 709-710, ¶ 5; Vol. 4 Tab 42, p. 745, ¶ 18; Vol. 4, Tab 48, p. 772, ¶ 5.) Many plaintiffs perform specialized functions. For example, a claims adjuster in the Special Investigations Unit is responsible for investigating potential fraud. Plaintiffs involved with subrogation investigate whether third parties are liable for any aspects of a claim. (Vol. 3, Tab 19, p. 462, ¶ 12; Vol. 4, Tab 48, p. 774, ¶ 12; Vol. 4, Tab 42, p. 742, ¶ 8.) Defendants also employ other claims handling personnel whom they do not classify as exempt. (See, e.g., Vol. 3, Tab 27, p. 662, ¶ 10; Vol. 4, Tab 46, p. 762, ¶ 7.)

The trial court observed that there were "significant variations in the duties of various class members in terms of their own level of authority to pay claims; the supervision others exercise over their activities and decisions; and the supervision various class members exercise over other claims representatives. Issues concerning whether class members customarily and regularly exercise 'discretion and independent judgment,' and whether they are engaged in duties that meet the test of the exemption

for more than 50 percent of their working hours, are likely to present individualized questions of fact." (Vol. 6, Tab 72, p. 1469.)⁴

Yet, the Court of Appeal held that each of the class members is non-exempt as a matter of law.

C. The IWC and California's "Administrative Exemption"

Labor Code sections 1173, 1178, and 1178.5 authorize the IWC to issue regulations concerning wages and hours for particular industries. In fulfilling this responsibility, the IWC "engages in a quasilegislative endeavor, a task which necessarily and properly requires the commission's exercise of a considerable degree of policy-making judgment and discretion. (*Industrial Welfare Commission v. Superior Court* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690, 702.)

⁴ The trial court's conclusion is well supported by the record. (See, e.g., Vol. 3, Tab 18, pp. 437-57; Vol. 5, Tab 55, pp. 1024-36; Vol. 6, Tab 63, pp. 1316-30; Vol. 6, Tab 69, pp. 1400-16); Vol. 3, Tab 19, p. 461, ¶¶ 9, 10; Vol. 3, Tab 20, p. 467, ¶ 13; Vol. 3, Tab 31, pp. 696, ¶ 6; Vol. 3, Tab 34, pp. 710-11, ¶¶ 6, 10; Vol. 3, Tab 39, pp. 728, 729, ¶¶ 8, 11; Vol. 4, Tab 42, p. 744, ¶ 16; Vol. 4, Tab 48, p. 773, ¶ 8 (settlement authority varies); Vol. 3, Tab 20, p. 465, ¶ 6; Vol. 3, Tab 25, p. 493, ¶ 6; Vol. 3, Tab 31, p. 697, ¶¶ 8, 10; Vol. 3, Tab 34, pp. 709, ¶ 5; Vol. 4, Tab 42, p. 747, ¶ 25) (different managerial requirements); Vol. 3, Tab 19, p. 459, ¶ 4; Vol. 3, Tab 20, p. 464, ¶ 2; Vol. 3, Tab 34, pp. 709, ¶ 5; Vol. 4, Tab 42, p. 740, ¶ 4 (claims assigned based upon experience); Vol. 3, Tab 19, p. 459, ¶ 3; Vol. 4, Tab 42, p. 743, ¶ 12) (some adjusters deal with attorneys and some do not).) Plaintiffs did not introduce any contrary evidence.

Pursuant to authority first delegated from the Legislature in 1913, the IWC has promulgated wage orders applying to 15 separate occupations. Wage Order 4, at issue in this case, applies to "Professional, Technical, Clerical, Mechanical, and Similar Occupations." Before 1947, none of the IWC's wage orders included an exemption for administrative employees. In 1947, using federal criteria as a guide, the IWC amended nine wage orders (not including Wage Order 4) to include exemptions for "women employed in administrative, executive, or professional capacities" and described the duties of such employees "in language drawn from federal regulations." (*Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exchange* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 805, 813.)⁵

In 1957, as part of its recodification of Wage Order 4, the IWC expanded the definition of "professional, technical, clerical, and similar occupations." It also inserted the phrase "administrative, executive, or professional" (a "triad of terms . . . plainly borrowed from parallel language" under federal law) to modify the description of the duties of exempt employees. (*Id.* at p. 814 (citation omitted).) "[T]his regulatory

⁵ Although the amendment to Wage Order 4 did not contain the reference to "administrative, executive, or professional capacities," it did include the "same description of the duties of exempt employees, drawn from federal regulations. . . ." (*Id*.)

history supports the use of federal authorities as an aid to interpretation of the administrative exemption of [Wage Order 4.]" (Id.)⁶

1. Wage Order 4 Before October 1, 2000

Before current Wage Order 4-2001 was adopted, Wage Order 4 did not separately define "administrative" employees, as distinguished from "executive" or "professional" employees. The exemption simply read as follows:

- (a) Provisions of sections 3 through 12 [governing hours and days of work, minimum wages, and rest periods] shall not apply to persons employed in administrative, executive, or professional capacities. No person shall be considered to be employed in an administrative, executive, or professional capacity unless one of the following conditions prevails:
- (1) The employee is engaged in work which is primarily intellectual, managerial, or creative, and for which the remuneration is not less than \$1150.00 per month; or
- (2) The employee is licensed or certified by the State of California and is engaged in [the practice of a profession such as law or medicine].

More guidance was available under federal law, however, which provided that an employee is performing work in an "administrative

⁶ In 1973, the exemption in Wage Order 4 was expanded to include all employees, not just women and children. Thereafter, it only underwent

capacity" if the employee performs office or nonmanual work "directly related to management policies or general business operations of his employer or his employer's customers." (29 C.F.R.§ 541.2 (1998).)⁷ Another federal regulation, 29 C.F.R. § 541.205, defined this "directly related" language, as well as the "administrative operations of the business," as follows:

- (a) The phrase "directly related to management policies or general business operations of his employer or his employer's customers" describes those types of activities relating to the administrative operations of a business as distinguished from "production" or, in a retail or service establishment, "sales" work. In addition to describing the types of activities, the phrase limits the exemption to persons who perform work of substantial importance to the management or operation of the business of his employer or his employer's customers.
- (b) The administrative operations of the business include the work performed by so-called white-collar employees engaged in "servicing" a business as, for, example, advising the management, planning, negotiating, representing the company, purchasing, promoting sales, and business research and control. ...
- (c) As used to describe work of substantial importance to the management or operation of the business, the phrase "directly related to management policies or general business operations" is not limited to persons who participate in the formulation of management policies or in the operation of the business as a whole. Employees whose work is "directly related" to management policies or to general business operations include those work affects policy or whose responsibility it is to execute or carry it out. The phrase also includes a wide variety of

minor changes until October 2000, when the IWC initially adopted what became Wage Order 4-2001. (*Id.* at p. 814.)

The federal regulations were unchanged during all pertinent periods until the Department of Labor revised its regulations in 2004.

persons who either carry out major assignments in conducting the operations of the business, or whose work affects business operations to a substantial degree, even though their assignments are tasks related to the operation of a particular segment of the business. ...

This same regulation lists "claim agents and adjusters" as examples of employees who meet the "directly related" test.⁸

2. Wage Order 4-2001

Order 4-2001, which provided more specific guidance in defining the administrative exemption. For the first time, the new Order set forth a separate test for the administrative exemption and did so in a way that essentially tracked the language of 29 C.F.R. § 541.2 under federal law. It also expressly incorporated several specific federal regulations, including section 29 C.F.R. § 541.205, including its definition of the "administrative operations of the business" and its reference to "claim agents and adjusters" as employees who likely qualify for the administrative exemption.

⁸ "The test of 'directly related to management policies or general business operations' is also met by many persons employed as advisory specialists and consultants of various kinds, credit managers, safety directors, claim agents and adjusters, wage-rate analysts, tax experts, account executives of advertising agencies, customers' brokers in stock exchange firms, promotion men, and many others." (29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c)(5) (2002).)

⁹ The IWC initially adopted Wage Order 4-2000, effective October 1, 2000, as an interim Wage Order. There are no substantive differences between the tests for the administrative exemption in the interim Order and the January 1, 2001 amendments.

3. The IWC's "Statement As to the Basis"

The IWC utilizes "Statements As to the Basis" to set forth the reasons for its decisions. (Cal. Hotel & Motel Assn. v. Industrial Welfare Com. (1979) 25 Cal.3d 200, 213.) The Statement As to the Basis accompanying Wage Order 4-2001 made clear that one of the IWC's goals in promulgating the new wage orders was to "provide clarity regarding the federal regulations that can be used to describe the duties that meet the test of the exemption under California law. . . . " Another was to promote "uniformity of enforcement" between state and federal law. (Vol. 5, Tab 62, p. 1292.)

The IWC made clear that "only those federal regulations specifically cited in its wage orders" in effect at the time Wage Order 4-2001 was adopted should be used to define exempt duties under California law. (*Id.*) The Statement acknowledges that the IWC "derived the duties that meet the test for the administrative exemption from language in the federal regulation 29 C.F.R. § 541.2(a)-(c), with the exception of the 'primary duty' phrase." (*Id.* at p. 1293.)

D. Procedural History

Plaintiff Frances Harris and other class members in a coordinated group of four class action lawsuits are employed as claims adjusters, in numerous and widely-differing job categories, by petitioners Liberty Mutual and Golden Eagle. (Vol. 1, Tab 2, p. 25-26.)

Between March 2001 and August 2002, plaintiffs filed four class action lawsuits challenging their classification as exempt employees and seeking damages based on overtime work for which they claim they were not properly paid. All four actions were coordinated in one proceeding by the Judicial Council. (Vol. 1, Tab 4, p. 43.) In May 2004, the trial court certified each as a class action, concluding that the so-called "administrative/production worker dichotomy" was a predominant issue that could be dispositive with regard to the administrative exemption. (Vol. 1, Tab 5, p. 66.)

A year later, plaintiffs moved for summary adjudication on liability, arguing that each class member was non-exempt as a matter of law. (Vol. 1, Tabs 7-8, pp. 71-110.) Defendants opposed the motion and also moved to decertify the class on the ground that common issues of fact and law did not predominate because of the many variations in the duties performed by class members. (Vol. 3, Tabs 17-18, pp. 434-457.)

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