Supreme Court Copy

No. S156555

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANCES HARRIS et al., Petitioners,

VS.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, Respondent;

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al., Real Parties in Interest.

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al., Petitioners,

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, Respondent;

FRANCES HARRIS et al., Real Parties in Interest.

Second District Nos. B195121 and B195370 (Consolidated)
Los Angeles Superior Court Nos. BC 246139 and BC 246140
JCCP No. 4234 (*Liberty Mutual Overtime Cases*)
The Honorable Carolyn B. Kuhl



ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP
PATRICK J. COUGHLIN (111070)

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

Agreeing with the First District, the Second District majority flagged the flaws in the DOL's analysis. (See *Harris*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 185-186.) The dissent did not disagree. (*Id.* at pp. 190-197.) Faithful to the IWC's temporal limitation – "as of the date of this order" (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11040, subd. 1(A)(2)(f)) – the trial court too declined to rely on the 2002 DOL opinion letter. As that court observed, "the opinion letter was not available at the time the IWC incorporated the federal regulations." (13 Exs. 3828, fn. 5.)

In March 2003, the new administration continued its push to change the regulatory landscape by proposing a major revamp of the federal overtime rules. (12 Exs. 3390 [initial proposed rules].) According to the opening brief,

the new rules are "a clarification (not a change) of the Department's position" as to the exemption status of insurance claims adjusters. (OBM 33.) The "change versus clarification" debate is beside the point because the IWC, in 2001, could not have intended to incorporate a federal regulatory patina that did not yet exist. Even putting the timing aside, defendants are wrong. Perhaps on a macro level, the new regulations "were not intended to cause a substantive change in the law." (Neary v. Metropolitan Property & Casualty Insurance Co. (D.Conn. 2007) 517 F.Supp.2d 606, 613, fn. 1.) But, this is just a generalization. On the issues of interest here, there were significant changes.

As defendants admit, after *Bell II* in 2001, the DOL "stated that one of its goals was 'to reduce the emphasis on the so-called "production versus staff' dichotomy in distinguishing between exempt and nonexempt workers." (OBM 41.) This is, in fact, what resulted. The new federal regulations entirely repealed the provision expressly incorporated into Wage Order 4-2001 and central here, 29 C.F.R. part 541.205(a). (10 Exs. 2857.) The language from this regulation, of course, is the basis for the administrative capacity analysis followed by the Courts of Appeal. (See *Harris*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 174-178; *Eicher*, *supra*, 151 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1372-1373; *Bell II*, *supra*, 87 Cal.App.4th at pp. 819-820 and fn. 16; *Bell III*, *supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at p. 729.) In the words of defendants' cited authority: "It is clear from the revised language of the August 2004 Regulations that the Department of Labor has moved away from this 'administrative/production dichotomy' in the context of the service industries." (*Robinson-Smith v. Government Employees Insurance Co.* (D.D.C. 2004) 323 F.Supp.2d 12, 22, fn. 6.)

In addition, although substantial importance is a separate requirement for the exemption under 29 C.F.R. part 541.205(a), substantial importance is no longer a prerequisite under the new federal regulations. The DOL eliminated the term entirely. As discussed above, the distinction between the type of work done and its importance was central to how the Court of Appeal

majority read all of 29 C.F.R. part 541.205 and reconciled its various subsections. Again, defendants do not challenge this aspect of the opinion. (See *Harris*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 174-175.) Yet, the DOL has charted a different analytical path under the new regulations. The agency reconfigured the federal administrative exemption so that now "the employee's primary duty must include the exercise of discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance." (29 C.F.R. part 541.202(a).)

This is not minor tinkering. Indeed, the new federal regulations are not retroactive. They do not apply to overtime claims based on events pre-dating the new rules. As one court explained: "The [DOL] significantly revised the FLSA regulations effective August 23, 2004, especially the exemption provisions in 29 C.F.R. § 541 et seq." (*Tiffey v. Speck Enterprises, Ltd.* (S.D.Iowa 2006) 418 F.Supp.2d 1120, 1124, fn. 3.)

Of particular interest, the DOL added a provision declaring in conclusory fashion that "[i]nsurance claims adjusters" who perform certain duties qualify for the administrative exemption. (29 C.F.R. part 541.203(a).) Defendants now seek to get mileage out of this new regulation specifically targeting claims adjusters for exempt status. As defendants must admit, however, "the IWC did not have the benefit of this new regulation when it promulgated either Wage Order 4-1998 or Wage Order 4-2001" (OBM 32-33.) For this reason, the new regulation, and others enacted after the IWC finished its work, are simply irrelevant to the matters of California law at issue here. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11040, subd. 1(A)(2)(f) [Wage Order 4-

2001 incorporating only certain regulations "effective as of the date of this order"].)³

7. Defendants' Recent Federal Case Law Rests Significantly on the Post-2001 Federal Landscape or Is Otherwise Distinguishable

This Court has emphasized that "where the language or intent of state and federal labor laws substantially differ, reliance on federal regulations or interpretations to construe state regulations is misplaced." (Ramirez, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 798.) "The federal authorities are of little if any assistance in construing state regulations which provide greater protection to workers." (Morillion, supra, 22 Cal.4th at p. 594.) Ignoring these admonitions, defendants go heavy on recent federal decisions, which they say are "unanimous" in their favor. Defendants' cherry-picked cases, however, were virtually all decided under the new regulatory framework and in the context of the DOL's noticeable tilt in favor of insurance companies after January 2001. As the First and Second Districts have explained, the recent federal case authority is off base for these and other reasons. (See Harris, supra, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 186-188; Bell III, supra, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 728-735.)

Plaintiffs are aware of the recent decision in Combs v. Skyriver Communications, Inc. (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1242 (Combs). On a record not resembling this case, the Fourth District found Bell II and Bell III "factually and legally distinguishable." (Id. at p. 1259.) Of concern, however, the Combs panel appears to have erroneously decided the appeal under the current federal regulations, not the ones the IWC carefully referenced in Wage Order 4-2001. (See, e.g., id. at pp. 182-183, 189-190.) As of this writing, a petition for review has been filed seeking "grant and hold" status pending resolution of this case. (See Combs v. Skyriver Communications, S161777, Petition for Review [filed Mar. 14, 2008].) Interestingly, the respondents in Combs did not ask the Fourth District to apply the current federal regulations. Rather, the respondents conceded that the federal regulations in effect when Wage Order 4-2001 was adopted were controlling. (See Combs v. Skyriver Communications, Inc., D049984, Respondents' Brief [filed June 29, 2007].)

Among the recent cases, *In re Farmers Insurance Exchange, Claims Representatives' Overtime Pay Litigation* (9th Cir. 2007) 481 F.3d 1119 (*Farmers*) illustrates why recent federal doctrine has no bearing. The Ninth Circuit decided that case under the new exemption framework, not the preceding one incorporated into Wage Order 4-2001. (See *id.* at p. 1124 ["we are obligated to follow § 541.203"]; p. 1128 ["[t]he district court did not rely on" 29 C.F.R. part 541.203(a), "presumably because it was not in effect at the time the plaintiffs filed these actions," but "[n]evertheless, § 541.203 bears directly on our analysis"].) The same thing happened in *Roe-Midgett v. CC Services, Inc.* (7th Cir. 2008) 512 F.3d 865. Relying on the new regulations, the Seventh Circuit called the prior dichotomy analytical framework, among other things, "not terribly useful here, particularly given that the 2004 regulations suggest a more traditional meaning of 'production.'" (*Id.* at p. 872.)

In applying the new regulatory regime, the *Farmers* court sought to justify its opinion with a broad proclamation: "For more than 50 years, the Department of Labor has considered claims adjusters exempt from the Fair Labor Standard Act's overtime requirement." (*Farmers*, *supra*, 481 F.3d at p. 1124.) This sweeping assertion was based on three DOL opinion letters from 1957, 1963 and 1985, referenced obliquely in the opening brief. (OBM 31, fn. 14.) Although this litigation was initiated seven years ago, defendants began citing these older letters only after *Farmers* was published. What little the Ninth Circuit said about the letters does not support the emphatically one-sided nature of the opinion there. For example, the 1957 letter apparently states that in certain circumstances, insurance claim adjusters "may be [exempt]." (*Farmers*, *supra*, 481 F.3d at p. 1129.) This is a far cry from concluding that all such adjusters "must" be exempt.

Addressing *Farmers*, the Second District majority was "not persuaded" by the three older letters. (*Harris*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 186, fn. 11.)

"None of those letters mentions the administrative/production worker dichotomy. In each of them, the analysis of the 'directly related' requirement consists of a single sentence, which asserts that the requirement is met because of the reference to 'claim agents and adjusters' in 29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c)(5)." (*Ibid.*) For the reasons already discussed, subsection (c)(5) creates no presumption in defendants' favor on the administrative capacity prong.

Defendants' few other published cases also do not compel the conclusion that the present class of adjusters performs administrative work under California law. In *Cheatham v. Allstate Insurance Co.* (5th Cir. 2006) 465 F.3d 578, the plaintiff adjusters conceded the very point that is hotly contested here. They "admitted in court... that their duties consisted primarily of 'office or nonmanual work directly related to management policies or general business operations of his employer or his employer's customers.'" (*Id.* at p. 584.) The decision in *Jastremski v. Safeco Insurance Cos.* (N.D.Ohio 2003) 243 F.Supp.2d 743 is not on point because it relied heavily on the 2002 DOL opinion letter – as both the trial court (13 Exs. 3828, fn. 5) and First District noted in distinguishing that case. (See *Bell III*, *supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 732-735.) In sum, defendants' purported "avalanche" of federal authority does not support the sharp change in California law they ask this Court to announce.

8. Defendants Ignore the Principle that California Law Is Free to Provide Workers Stronger Wage Protections

More elementary than tallying good or bad federal decisions, defendants overlook that federal case law is at most persuasive, not binding. The question here is the scope of California's overtime rules, not the federal ones. Again, importantly, "state law may provide employees greater protection than the FLSA." (*Morillion*, *supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 592 [collecting cases].) A ruling in plaintiffs' favor, therefore, would not "nullify" any federal overtime rule. (OBM 2.) To the contrary, "federal law does not control

unless it is more beneficial to employees than the state law." (Morillion, supra, 22 Cal.4th at p. 594.)

California frequently extends workers wage protections unavailable under federal doctrine. For instance, the time employees spend riding a bus from an employer-designated location to the workplace constitutes compensable "work" hours under California law, despite a different conclusion under the FLSA. (See *Morillion*, *supra*, 22 Cal.4th at pp. 587-594.) Mechanics in California have been paid for overtime even though they would be exempt under the federal statute. (See *Keyes Motors*, *Inc. v. Division of Labor Stds. Enforcement* (1987) 197 Cal.App.3d 557, 563-564 and fn. 3.) There are many more illustrations. (See *Ramirez*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 795 [collecting additional examples].)

9. Defendants' Policy-Based Critique of California Law Is for the Legislature and the Relevant Administrative Agencies to Consider

Boiled down, defendants' pitch to this Court is that existing California law is "outmoded" and "outdated." (OBM 39.) This, however, is a request for a new and different wage order. The IWC could not have been more pellucid that only certain federal regulations "effective as of the date of this order" – January 2001 – were incorporated into Wage Order 4-2001. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11040, subd. 1(A)(2)(f).) The IWC's express instruction reflects the agency's "exercise of a considerable degree of policy-making judgment and discretion" in fulfilling its "broad statutory mandate." (*IWC*, *supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 702.) This realm is not one for judicial second-guessing. As this Court has stressed, "we should not engage in needless policy determinations regarding wage orders the IWC promulgates." (*Morillion*, *supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 587.)

It is apparent, then, that defendants' undisguised preference for a different California administrative exemption presents "policy-based

arguments" for the Legislature or the IWC. (Diamond Multimedia Systems, Inc. v. Superior Court (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1036, 1046.) The Second District majority was right that "[i]t is the function of the Legislature and the relevant agencies, not of the courts, to determine whether the 'directly related' requirement or any of its components have become obsolete, and to modify them as necessary." (Harris, supra, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 188, fn. 12.) In the words of a recent decision: "We, of course, have no authority to rewrite the regulatory scheme. In the end, whether the present state of affairs is satisfactory is for the Legislature to decide, and we leave that question to the Legislature's considered judgment." (Marathon Entertainment, Inc. v. Blasi (2008) 42 Cal.4th 974, 999; see also California Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified School Dist. (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 633.)

10. Class Decertification Is Premature

Defendants suggest the entire class must be decertified if plaintiffs' summary adjudication motion is denied as a result of this Court's opinion. (OBM 3, 20, 56.) Defendants' petition for review, however, did not raise the propriety of class status as an issue. Instead, defendants limited the issue for review to the correct legal standard governing their potential liability. Even assuming for sake of argument that class decertification was "fairly included" in the petition (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(3)), defendants' request is ill-founded.

There appears to be no dispute that under the dichotomy analysis the trial court applied to Wage Order 4, and the Second District majority applied to both wage orders, class certification is appropriate – as it was in *Bell*. (See *Bell III*, *supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 720-725.) The dichotomy framework for the administrative capacity prong presents a "theory of recovery" that "is, as an analytical matter, likely to prove amenable to class treatment." (*Sav-On*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 327.)

Although not clearly framed, the question defendants really pose is what should happen to the certified class if defendants' liability is assessed under a different legal theory. According to defendants, "[w]ithout the dichotomy, individualized issues of fact and law unquestionably predominate, and the Court should therefore direct the trial court to decertify the class in its entirety." (OBM 20.) This proposed leap is unsupported by the record. In their briefing below, plaintiffs pointed out that even if *Bell* were disregarded, a class action could still be pursued under other liability theories. (11 Exs. 3132-3137; 12 Exs. 3318-3326; 13 Exs. 3744-3752.) Defendants' own briefs highlighted the common nature of the relevant facts. (1 Exs. 166-172, 206-209.) In any event, class certification under different legal theories, should it ever be necessary to reach them, is not ripe for adjudication on this record. As the trial court's orders reflect, the point presents questions for another day after this appeal is over. (1 Exs. 131; 13 Exs. 3831-3832.)

Apart from the correct liability standard under the wage orders, class decertification would be another way, in practical effect, for defendants to avoid paying overtime compensation under California law. Due to the relatively small amounts individually at stake, precluding the claims handlers from suing as a class "would pose a serious obstacle to the enforcement of the state's overtime laws." (*Gentry*, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 450.) As this Court has stressed, "sound public policy" favors class status in unpaid overtime cases. (Sav-On, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 340.) Contrary to defendants' assumption, "wage and hour disputes (and others in the same general class) routinely proceed as class actions." (Aguiar v. Cintas Corp. No. 2 (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 121, 138, citation omitted.)⁴

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